THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

JAN 14 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Ellis B. Drew, Jr., Master-in-Equity

Appellant Court Case Number No. 2015-001416

Lower Court Case No. 2011-CP-04-3316

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as
Indenture Trustee for MortgageIT Trust 2004-1

Respondent,


v.

Joseph F. DeBoskey

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dated this 12th day of January, 2016



Joseph F. DeBoskey, Pro-se
115 Caribou Cove
Anderson, SC 29621
(864) 221-9057
Dawn810@bellsouth.net

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ORDERING A CASE TO PROCEED TO THE JUDICIAL SALE OF RESIDENTIAL REAL PROPERTY BEFORE A HOMEOWNER COMPLETED THE "HARDEST HIT" PROGRAM AS PROMULGATED BY FEDERAL LAW, BY SC MORTGAGE HELP, AND BY THE 2011 COURT RULES?

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISSOLVING A STAY OF JUDICIAL SALE WITHOUT AN ADMINISTRATIVE DETERMINATION BY THE PROGRAM CONTRACTOR OF A LENDER'S FULFILLMENT OF ITS "GATHER AND PROVIDE" DUTIES?

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING A JUDGMENT OF FORECLOSURE WHERE THE PARTY PLAINTIFF LOST, OR NEVER POSSESSED, AN INTEREST IN THE MORTGAGE, NOTE, AND UNDERLYING DEBT OBLIGATION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent¹ DEUTSCHE BANK sued DeBOSKEY to foreclose on his residence. The Homeowner did not answer and was defaulted. The lower court entered its Judgment of Foreclosure on September 17, 2012, setting a sale date for that December.

DeBOSKEY then applied to this State's version of the federal "hardest hit" initiative. He alerted the lender and notified the lower court of his participation in the South Carolina Homeownership and Employment Lending Program ("SC HELP"). Federal law and program guidelines require courts to stay all "final acts" against program applicants, so DeBOSKEY moved to stay the sale. The lower court heard his application on November 19, 2012; on December 3, 2012, it issued a Statement of Proceedings which stayed the sale and abated the case pending completion of the SC HELP process.

DeBOSKEY moved to dismiss the case in October of 2013 as a sanction against the Bank. He pointed to DEUTSCHE BANK's willful defiance of its duty to "gather and provide" data. The dismissal motion came on for hearing on May 12, 2015. The Bank argued that the lower court could excuse its failure to comply with program informational requirements; it also asked for relief from the stay of sale. The court below denied the Homeowner's dismissal motion.

On July 1, 2015, DeBOSKEY timely perfected his appeal from the Order Denying Relief. Jurisdiction over the matter now rests in this Court.

¹ For convenience, the following designations are used in this Brief: Plaintiff/Respondent DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, as Indentured Trustee for MORTGAGEIT TRUST 2004-1, is referred to as "DEUTSCHE BANK" or as the "Bank." Defendant/Appellant JOSEPH F. DeBOSKEY is called "DeBOSKEY" or the "Homeowner."

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This appeal turns on the principles of preemption and deference, with a dollop of standing thrown in. The central and determinative question before the Court is whether the mandates of the SC HELP program trump case management concerns. The trial court overlooked program requirements and focused on case administration. This Court must reverse the Order under review and remand the cause with directions.

The facts on appeal begin with a familiar pattern: DeBOSKEY purchased his residence with borrowed money. The lender memorialized its loan by a promissory note and secured its loan with a mortgage on real property. When the Great Recession struck, the Homeowner got behind on installments and fell into payment default. DEUTSCHE BANK accelerated the note, then sued to liquidate its collateral. After DeBOSKEY was defaulted for failure to answer, the Bank obtained a foreclosure judgment.

The facts then veer off in an unusual direction: The Homeowner entered a local version of the "hardest hit" program. DeBOSKEY notified the lower court of his participation in SC HELP; he sought and obtained a stay from judicial sale pending his completion of the program. (A stay was required because the hardest hit program prohibits courts from taking "final acts" against applicants). Working through a local non-profit called NHC (the Neighborhood Housing Corporation),

DeBOSKEY assembled and submitted all his required information. The lower court properly abated the case and gave the Bank time to amass and provide its documentation.²

Problems arose when DEUTSCHE BANK failed to provide NHC with datasets required by the program. Troubles escalated while the Bank dragged its feet and time dragged on. NHC repeatedly found the Bank's submissions deficient. NHC repeatedly demanded for the Bank to comply with the guidelines and rules – only to find the Bank's product was still unsatisfactory. The Bank then made excuses for why it was failing to submit a complete loan itemization package, saying that some information was too hard for it to locate or assemble. But DEUTSCHE BANK never sought a program waiver, and NHC never gave it an exemption from its production duties. Meantime, DeBOSKEY contacted the plaintiff, through prior counsels, repeatedly, trying to force the Bank to “gather and provide” loan data as commanded by the SC Mortgage HELP program and the 2011 rules.³

Eventually, the impasse exploded. By late 2013, the Bank was inexcusably tardy in providing its loan itemization package data. The Homeowner sought sanctions against DEUTSCHE BANK for disregarding program obligations. He moved the lower court to dismiss the Bank's case for its willful failure to “gather and provide.”

² The SC Mortgage HELP program and the so-called “2011 rules” of court impose paperwork requirements on foreclosing parties. Lenders have to gather the information needed for the loan modification process and provide that data to the special non-profit entities that serve as program contractors. Final acts such as judicial sales are postponed for the duration of the process under program administrative regulations as well as under the court rules.

³ Enforcement of program requirements is an administrative responsibility resting with the contractor: here, NHC. Enforcement of court rules of course is within the purview of the courts.

Hearing on the sanction motion was held on May 12, 2015. At that time, DEUTSCHE BANK made an “end-run” around the rules: it asked the lower court *ore tenemus* to dissolve the stay and to allow a sale. The court below expressed its concern over the case’s status, saying that this case was “taking too long.” A written order was entered under which the Anderson County Court of Common Pleas, Ellis B. Drew, Jr., Master-in-Equity, denied relief to DeBOSKEY and allowed the Bank to move to sale.

In preparing for the sanctions hearing and in the course of this appeal, DeBOSKEY learned about problems with standing here. DEUTSCHE BANK filed papers with Consumer Financial Protection Agency informing them that the Bank had no interest in the subject loan. This lately unearthed concession shakes this case up on its merits: when a party admits on the public record that it had no standing to pursue foreclosure, the underlying judgment is necessarily compromised. Indeed, relief from the judgment would be warranted under Rule 60(b)(5) if “the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application.” This late-hour confession of error serves to vitiate the judgment itself.

As mentioned above, DeBOSKEY timely perfected an appeal to this Court from the Order below. This Court holds jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This routine case has spawned a series of serious issues on appeal. One point is preemption: federal law forbids any court from entering “final acts” against participants in a “hardest hit” program. But the lower court here is attempting to allow a sale in foreclosure to go forward while DeBOSKEY’s SC HELP application was still pending. The primacy of federal authority and the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution require reversal of the order below. *Hillman v. Maretta*, 569 U.S. 141, 133 S.Ct. 1943, 186 L.Ed.2d 43 (2013)(state legislation was without power to vary or alter insurance beneficiaries as designated under federal program); *The City of Cayce v. Norfolk So. Rwy. Co.*, 391 S.C. 395, 706 S.E.2d 6((2001). In particular, where federal and state regulations are not in agreement, the requirements of the federal regulations shall prevail.” *Stogsdill v. South Carolina Dep’t of Health & Human Svcs.*, 410 S.C. 763 S.E.2d 638, 642 (Ct. App. 2014).

A related point concerns the principle of deference: courts generally accept agency decisions; courts usually act only after all administrative remedies are exhausted. Here NHC served as program administrator, so NHC and not any court was empowered to decide whether an application was properly pending – and to decide whether a lender had fulfilled its obligation to “gather and provide.” Likewise, NHC and not any court held the authority to excuse noncompliance or to relieve a lender from its duties. But the lower court here substituted its judgment for that of the program administrator. The lower court disregarded NHC’s view that the Bank and unilaterally decided a case had gone on “too long.” The lower court in effect substituted its judgment for the administrator’s to excuse the Bank from its duty to “gather and provide” information to

SC HELP. The principles of judicial deference to administrative actors require a reversal of the order below.

The final point is standing: South Carolina law requires complainants to be real parties in interest. It now turns out that the Bank neither holds nor claims any rights in subject loan. DEUTSCHE BANK had no right to foreclose, so it is not equitable to give the judgment prospective application. Lack of standing requires reversal.

For all these reasons, the order below must be reversed and the case remanded.

ARGUMENT

DeBOSKEY seeks reversal of a lower court's order on two separate grounds: preemption and deference. He also asks to discharge the judgment below for lack of standing. His argument and authorities are as follows:

PREEMPTION: WHAT LAW CONTROLS THE STAY OF THIS FORECLOSURE PROCEEDING?

DeBOSKEY claims that the court below erred in lifting its stay of sale.

It would seem that the power to enter or to vacate a stay would be left to the discretion of trial courts. The master had experience with this particular case and so was in position to judge the equities of granting – or, here, of dissolving – any stay. Under this line of reasoning, a decision of the trial court should not be disturbed on appeal.

The Homeowner's response is that the rights, merits and equities of the staying of foreclosure sale have already been determined by federal law.⁴ State courts are forbidden from performing so-called "final acts" so long as an applicant is in the Hardest Hit program. The trial court here simply had no discretion to exercise: it cannot lift the stay or otherwise act until the administrator, determines that the Homeowner is no longer eligible for the program. Since NHC has not rejected DeBOSKEY's application, *the stay cannot be lifted* (emphasis added).

The Homeowner grounds his reasoning in the federal program itself. The U.S.

⁴ DeBOSKEY has found little case law applying the Hardest Hit rules to situations like the case at hand. The Homeowner therefore grounds his argument on the federal and state rules and regulations themselves, unadorned with much judicial opinion.

Department of Treasury announced its “hardest hit” initiative on February 19, 2010. The initiative was approved and the funds allocated on June 23, 2010. The “hardest hit” initiative directs certain states most badly impacted by the foreclosure crisis to sponsor mortgage relief programs. These programs are overseen by state Housing Finance Agencies (“HFAs”) and operated by private administrative contractors (called Eligible Entities, or “EEs” for short). The U.S. Department of the Treasury administers the program. In the affected states, lenders are permitted to go to court and even to judgment, but they cannot go to sale so long as a program application is pending.⁵

The Department added South Carolina to the roll of affected states on March 29, 2010. This state created the South Carolina Homeownership and Employment Lending Program (i.e., SC HELP) in accordance with the Hardest Hit directives. South Carolina courts further implemented the program by adopting a set of rules (the so-called “2011 rules” of court⁶). Together, the program and court rules impose paperwork requirements on foreclosing parties.

DeBOSKEY then applies these rules to this case on appeal. The Bank – indeed, on all foreclosing parties in this State – have a duty to cooperate with administrator EEs. In this case, the Bank had a duty to provide NHC with a loan itemization package. The original stay of the sale was thus in line with program requirements and gave DEUTSCHE BANK the time to assemble its paperwork and to submit a loan itemization

⁵ Because the program has federal authority, it can alter the terms of private contracts. Simple state action could otherwise run afoul of the contracts clause. See Art. I, §10, U.S. Const.

⁶ The 2011 Rules were adopted in reaction to unhappy experience with earlier provisional rules. South Carolina courts deemed the earlier rules to be ineffective because lenders simply did not perform their duty.

package. Indeed, the trial court's stay first entered in 2012 was premised on DEUTSCHE BANK's legal duty to "gather and provide" the data required by a South Carolina's HELP program.

Time has not changed the merits of – or the law governing – a stay of sale here. The program requirements are still the same. The Bank still owes the same duty. Once DeBOSKEY entered into the federally sponsored SC HELP, the trial court lost power to make final orders. Until the program administrator reports that the application is rejected (or takes some other similar action), the stay must remain in effect. No sale date can be set. The court below was simply without power to order a sale or other final act in the face of federal program requirements. See Article VI, §2, U.S. Const. (Supremacy Clause).

Based on policy, precedent, and constitutional law, DEUTSCHE BANK cannot be heard to disregard program requirements set by the United States of America and the State of South Carolina. The Bank may not proceed to sale or to any "final act" so long as DeBOSKEY is in the SC HELP program. The supreme law of the land, the federal program, the law of this State, and the equities of this case itself all require the stay maintained in this case. The lower court's order, being contrary to this law, must be reversed.

**DEFERENCE:
WHO DETERMINES WHEN A LENDER MEETS ITS
"GATHER AND PROVIDE" DUTY (OR IS EXCUSED THEREFROM)?**

DeBOSKEY claims that the court below erred in excusing the Bank.

It would seem that a trial court should decide whether a lender had performed its program duty. The master heard representations that the Bank had tried hard to supply data to the EE. DEUTSCHE BANK argued that the master could find its performance complete, or could find its performance "substantially" complete, or could hold its further performance in some way excused. Under this approach, the trial court's order was justified and should not be disturbed on appeal.

The Homeowner responds by pointing to administrative law. The Hardest Hit program is an administrative and not a judicial program. It vests in eligible entities like NHC and not in trial courts the status of program administrators. The program grants EEs the authority to collect data and to decide on eligibility. It grants them the power to manage and mediate the loan relief program. *Office of Reg. Staff v. South Carolina Pub. Svc. Comm'n*, 374 S.C. 46, 647 S.E.2d 223 (2007); *Furr v. Horry Cnty. Zoning Board of Appeals*, 411 S.C. 178, 767 S.E.2d 221 (Ct. App. 2014).

In this case, NHC had the authority to measure the Bank's duty to "gather and provide" data; the court below did not. NHC could have found that the Bank had discharged its duty, but it did not. Instead, the record shows that the EE repeatedly found DEUTSCHE BANK's submissions wanting. The Bank could have asked NHC for a waiver, or for a finding of "substantial compliance," or for some other remedy. It never did. The record is clear that DEUTSCHE BANK threw up its hands and went to the trial court to get a new and different referee.

And that is exactly the problem here: participants in administrative programs do not get to junk the process and head over to court instead. They must deal with the administrative authority and not with a court. NHC, not the court below, had the authority and the power to mete out justice here. DEUTSCHE BANK, disliking the agency's action, went shopping for a new forum.

Of course, a party treated unfairly by agency action can seek a judicial review. But that happens only after they first exhaust their administrative remedies. In this case, it is clear that the Bank did not exhaust such remedies; indeed, it did not start down that path at all. DEUTSCHE BANK did not diligently attempt to get relief from NHC and fail; rather, it found it annoying to deal with the program and so never tried. The string of directions to submit is telling: the Bank refused to perform its duty to the satisfaction of the EE; it now wants a court to relieve it from the consequences of its own sloth and willfulness.

Substantial policy is at stake here, too. The SC HELP program is an intentionally administrative initiative and is designed to be run by state nonprofit contractors. The aim and the process of the Hardest Hit program depend on the judgment of EEs in the first instance. Throwing the administrator overboard and resorting to adversary proceedings before a judicial tribunal is very different from the SC HELP program. To achieve the beneficial purposes of the Hardest Hit initiative, the parties have to be forced to complete the administrative process. Short-circuiting the program is not just bad for this Homeowner; it is bad for all homeowners in South Carolina who look to resort to the program as designed.

DEUTSCHE BANK cannot be allowed to jettison the program fashioned by the

federal and South Carolina governments. NHC did not deny DeBOSKEY's application. NHC did not find the Bank to be compliant with its duty to "gather and provide." NHC never excused the Bank from its required performance; indeed, the record shows the Bank never asked. Based on deference to the administrative process and with an eye toward the required exhaustion of administrative remedies, *Bone v. U.S. Food Svc.*, 399 S.C. 566, 733 S.E.2d 200 (2012); *Graves v. Horry-Georgetown Tech. Coll.*, 391 S.C. 1, 704 S.E.2d 350 (Ct. App. 2010), lenders like DEUTSCHE BANK must be compelled to stay in and complete the administrative process. The lower court's order, being contrary to this law, must be reversed.

STANDING:

IS IT EQUITABLE FOR A JUDGMENT TO HAVE PROSPECTIVE APPLICATION WHERE PLAINTIFF NEVER HAD AN INTEREST IN THE UNDERLYING LOAN?

DeBOSKEY now claims that the court below should vacate or satisfy the judgment of record for want of standing.

It would seem that an earlier decision to enter judgment should stand. Moreover, it seems unusual to consider standing issues at this late date. Under this view, the trial court's judgment stands and cannot be vacated.

The Homeowner responds by pointing to S.C.R.Civ.P. 60(b)(5). In particular, that Rule permits relief from judgment when "it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application."

After the May hearing, Plaintiff reported that it does not actually own or even claim to own the Residential Loan. In dodging certain administrative claims, it has had to declare itself a stranger to the instrument and mortgage at bar.

But South Carolina requires a claim to be pursued by a real party in interest.