IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY

Ellis B. Drew, Jr., Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2015-001416

RECEIVED

FEB 16 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as
Indenture Trustee for MortgageIT Trust 2004-1,

Respondent,

v.

Joseph F. DeBoskey; and Suntrust Bank,

Defendants,

Of whom Joseph F. DeBoskey is the,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Magalie A. Creech (S.C. Bar 78855)
FINKEL LAW FIRM LLC
Post Office Box 41489
Charleston, South Carolina 29423
Telephone: (843) 577-5460
Facsimile: (866) 800-7954
mcreech@finkellaw.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE MASTER IN EQUITY PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM ENTRY OF JUDGMENT UNDER APPLICABLE LAW.

The decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely within the sound discretion of the trial judge. *Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 606, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009) (citing *Harbor Island Owners' Ass'n v. Preferred Island Props. Inc.*, 369 S.C. 540, 544, 633 S.E.2d 497, 499 (2006)). The trial court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 607, 681 S.E.2d at 888. An abuse of discretion occurs when the judgment is controlled by some

error of law or when the order is without evidentiary support. *In re Estate of Weeks*, 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E.2d 454, 459 (Ct. App. 1997).

A judgment may be set aside more than one year after its entry only if it is void or if it has been satisfied, released, or discharged. SCRCF Rule 60(b)(4)-(5); *Thomas & Howard Co., Inc. v. T.W. Graham & Co.*, 318 S.C. 286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343-44 (1995) (finding that movant was not entitled to any relief when a 60(b)(1) motion was made more than one year after entry of the default judgment.) Rule 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Procedure provides, in relevant part, as follows:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons:

- (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect;
- (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b);
- (3) fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party;
- (4) the judgment is void;
- (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application.

The motion shall be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1), (2), and (3) not more than one year after the judgment, order or proceeding was entered or taken. A motion under this subdivision (b) does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its operation. This rule does not limit the power of a court to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, order, or proceeding, or to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court.

SCRCF Rule 60(b) (emphasis added).

In determining whether to grant a motion under Rule 60(b), the trial judge should consider: (1) the promptness with which relief is sought, (2) the reasons for the failure to act

promptly, (3) the existence of a meritorious defense, and (4) the prejudice to the other party. *Micronics, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 510-11, 548 S.E.2d 223, 225-26 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing *New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. Bey Corp.*, 312 S.C. 47, 50, 435 S.E.2d 377, 379 (Ct. App. 1993)). “A meritorious defense is necessary in order for a judgment to be set aside under Rule 60(b).” *McClurg v. Deaton*, 395 S.C. 85, 86-87, 716 S.E.2d 887, 887-88 (2011). If the meritorious defense factor is not ruled upon by the lower court, the denial of a Rule 60(b) claim is not preserved for appellate review. *Id.* at 87, 716 S.E.2d at 888.

As a threshold and dispositive matter, the Master in Equity did not make any finding as to the meritorious defense factor in the Order denying Appellant’s Motion for Relief from Judgment. Indeed, Appellant made no mention of a meritorious defense in either his written motion or argument at the hearing held May 12, 2015. Therefore, Appellant’s claim is not preserved for appellate review.

Second, the plain language of Rule 60, SCRPC and the black letter law of South Carolina expressly prohibit any relief from judgments entered more than a year prior to a motion under Rule 60(b)(1), (2), and (3). Appellant’s motion did not cite *any* rule of procedure or make any allegation that the judgment was void, satisfied, released, or discharged. Further, Appellant did not make any oral argument at the hearing that the judgment was void, satisfied, released, or discharged. Thus, the motion was properly denied as untimely and procedurally defective.

Finally, Appellant merely sought equitable relief under the 2011 Administrative Order under which, notably, he did not seek foreclosure intervention. As properly determined by the trial court, the 2011 Administrative Order provides no basis for relief as sought by Appellant.

The record in the underlying action reveals ample evidentiary support for denying the motion, and the plain language of Rule 60, SCRPC compels it as a matter of law. Accordingly,

this Court should affirm the Master in Equity's Order denying Appellant's Motion for Relief from Judgment.

II. ALL REMAINING ISSUES RAISED BY APPELLANT ARE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW AND SHOULD BE DENIED.

As an initial matter, an issue must be raised and ruled upon in order to preserve it on appeal. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). An objection, which is sufficiently specific as to inform the court of the point urged by the objector, will preserve an issue for appellate review. *See Busillo v. City of N. Charleston*, 404 S.C. 604, 607, 745 S.E.2d 142, 144 (Ct. App. 2013); *see also State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) ("To preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court."); *Busillo*, 404 S.C. 604, 745 S.E.2d 142 (holding that appellant's arguments were not adequately presented to the trial court or not presented at all and thus were not preserved for appellate review); *Armstrong v. Collins*, 366 S.C. 204, 225, 621 S.E.2d 368, 378 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding that an issue was not preserved for review on appeal where the argument was not presented to the trial court and the court was not given an opportunity to rule on it). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." *Johnson*, 363 S.C. at 58-59, 609 S.E.2d at 523 (citing *State v. Pauling*, 322 S.C. 95, 99, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996)).

For the first time since the commencement of this action, Appellant claims, in his initial brief, that the underlying foreclosure: (1) is governed by federal law and the internal requirements of foreclosure relief programs; (2) was stayed by the U.S. Constitution, federal law, and the 2011 Administrative Order; and (3) was improperly granted because Respondent lacks standing to foreclose. At no point did Appellant make any of the foregoing assertions by way of written motion or oral argument to the lower court. By the same token, the lower court did not make any

rulings as to the applicability of federal law, foreclosure relief programs, or the U.S. Constitution to the case, and instead entered default judgment against Appellant. The lower court similarly did not issue an order staying the action pursuant to the 2011 Administrative Order. Therefore, all remaining issues raised by Appellant are not preserved for review and Appellant is thus procedurally barred from raising these issues.

Even if this Court finds that Appellant's arguments are preserved, this Court should nevertheless reject these arguments for the reasons set forth below:

A. State law governs the foreclosure action.

The only motions filed by Appellant were a Motion for More Definite Statement, which was denied for failure to prosecute, and the Motion for Relief from Judgment giving rise to the instant appeal. Neither Motion makes reference to federal law, the U.S. Constitution, or the provisions of foreclosure relief programs. Accordingly, Appellant's attempt to argue that anything other than South Carolina state law applies to the foreclosure action should be summarily rejected because this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Appellant fails to cite any authority to support his claim that federal law or the U.S. Constitution are applicable to a state court foreclosure action in which a default judgment was entered. Similarly, Appellant does not cite any authority supporting his claim that South Carolina state courts are bound by the internal administrative requirements of loss mitigation relief programs. Therefore, these claims are without merit and must be denied.

B. Respondent complied with the requirements of the 2011 Administrative Order.

In his Motion for Relief from Judgment, Appellant contended that Respondent was in violation of the 2011 Administrative Order but did not argue that the case was subject to a stay

imposed by said Order. The lower court denied Appellant's Motion for Relief from Judgment, and did not rule upon Appellant's assertion that Respondent was in violation of the 2011 Administrative Order in the resulting order. Appellant did not file a Motion for Reconsideration. Appellant also did not argue that the action was stayed under the 2011 Administrative Order at any point in the proceedings. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appeal and must be denied.

Nevertheless, the record below indicates that Respondent complied with its requirements under the 2011 Administrative Order and Appellant failed to file any timely objection to same. Specifically, the Master in Equity made a finding in the Order of Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale that the 2011 Administrative Order does not apply to the action based upon the Certification of Compliance filed by Respondent. Appellant did not object to the Certification of Compliance. After a status conference with the parties on December 3, 2012, the lower court issued a stay of the December 4, 2012 foreclosure sale to allow Appellant time to obtain a response to his request for assistance from SC Help. Nonetheless, the court did *not* find that the action was stayed by the 2011 Administrative Order or any other statute, rule of civil procedure, or foreclosure relief program.

At the May 12, 2015 hearing on his Motion from Relief from Judgment, Appellant's counsel sought equitable relief from the lower court and argued the "purpose" of the 2011 Administrative Order is to require "lenders to act in good faith and deal with borrowers in order to stem the flood of foreclosures." (Transcript, 7: 2-14). However, Appellant was unable to point to any provision of the 2011 Administrative Order which Respondent failed to satisfy, or any other basis for relief under the 2011 Administrative Order. The record also reveals that Appellant was provided with multiple opportunities to reinstate the loan, but did not

do so. Furthermore, Appellant's Motion for Relief from Judgment was filed approximately ten months after the court's stay of the December 4, 2012 sale. Appellant did not argue in that Motion or the subsequent hearing that the case was stayed indefinitely for him to pursue loss mitigation efforts. Therefore, this issue is without merit and should be denied.

C. Respondent has standing to foreclose.

Appellant argues for the first time in his initial brief that Respondent lacked standing to foreclose and thus the judgment is void, based on information he obtained subsequent to filing his notice of appeal. This issue is not preserved for review and should be denied.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Appellant has not presented any evidence to show that Respondent lacks standing to foreclose the subject mortgage.

"Generally, a party must be a real party in interest to the litigation to have standing." *Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 20, 28, 630 S.E.2d 474, 479 (2006). "An assignee stands in the shoes of its assignor." *Accord, Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 220, 644 S.E.2d 740, 745 (Ct. App. 2007); *Twelfth RMA Partners, L.P. v. Nat'l Safe Corp.*, 335 S.C. 636, 640-41, 518 S.E.2d 44, 46 (Ct. App. 1999); *Singleton v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 316 S.C. 199, 201, 447 S.E.2d 869, 870 (Ct. App. 1994). "Thus, an innocent assignee receives all the rights of his assignor." *BAC Home Loan Servicing, L.P. v. Kinder*, 398 S.C. 619, 624, 731 S.E.2d 547, 549 (2012) (citing *Singleton v. Singleton*, 60 S.C. 216, 234-35, 38 S.E. 462, 469 (1901)); *see also Twelfth RMA Partners, L.P.*, 335 S.C. at 640, 518 S.E.2d at 46. ("[T]he assignee [has] all the same rights and privileges, including the right to sue . . . as the assignor.").

At the time Respondent commenced the foreclosure action on November 10, 2011, it was the real party in interest because it was the mortgagee based upon a recorded assignment of mortgage from the original lender. The trial court properly granted the foreclosure at the final

default hearing based upon the evidence presented, which included copies of the note, mortgage, and assignment of mortgage recorded on September 15, 2011. As the mortgagee at the time the action was filed and at the final hearing, Respondent was clearly the real party in interest and thus had standing to foreclose.

Moreover, the purported evidence which Appellant is attempting to offer nearly three years and four months since the judgment was entered does not contradict the fact that Respondent is the mortgagee. Instead, this document merely states that Residential Credit Solutions, Inc. is the servicer of the subject mortgage loan and that Deutsche Bank National Trust Company is the “indenture trustee pursuant to an indenture for MortgageIT Mortgage Loan Trust 2004-1.”

Accordingly, this Court should deny this issue on appeal and affirm the Master in Equity’s ruling granting Respondent’s Motion to Amend Caption.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the Master in Equity’s ruling denying Appellant’s Motion for Relief from Entry of Judgment on the grounds that it was procedurally and substantively defective. Appellant has failed to preserve for review his issues regarding the applicability of federal law, the U.S. Constitution, foreclosure relief programs, the 2011 Administrative Order, and standing. Even if they had been preserved, these arguments fail on the merits and therefore they should be denied by this Court.